FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/19/2019 3:47 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 97343-1

Court of Appeals No. 76809-3-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAWYER LAKE VETERINARY HOSPITAL, INC., a Washington

corporation; and DR. JAN WHITE,

Petitioners,

٧.

PINE TREE VETERINARY HOSPITAL, a Washington limited liability company; and BRIDGET FERGUSON,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com Attorney for Petitioners

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW			
REAS	ONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW	5	
A.	To properly consider this petition, this Court must carefully review the sealed documents.	5	
B.	The sealed documents make clear that counsel suffered unavoidable casualty and misfortune that prevented Dr. White from prosecuting her action	5	
C.	The decision conflicts with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1)	7	
D.	The decision conflicts with other appellate decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2)	8	
E.	This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).	4-	
		.15	
CONC	CLUSION	.16	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page(s)				
Cases				
Adams v. Adams , 181 Wash. 192, 42 P.2d 787 (1935)7, 8				
Barr v. MacGuan, 119 Wn. App. 43, 78 P.3d 660 (2003)8, 11, 12, 13, 14				
<i>Marriage of Olsen</i> , 183 Wn. App. 546, 333 P.3d 561 (2014)8, 9, 11				
Sawyer Lake Vet. Hosp., Inc. v. Pine Tree Vet. Hosp., No. 76809-3-I, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. May 20, 2019) passim				
Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa , 97 Wn.2d 30, 640 P.2d 716 (1982)3				
<i>State v. Scott</i> , 20 Wn. App. 382, 580 P.2d 1099 (1978)				
Swasey v. Mikkelsen , 65 Wash. 411, 118 P. 308 (1911)				
Other Authorities				
CR 6(b)10				
CR 56(f)4				
CR 59(b)10				
CR 60(b)(1)9				
CR 60(b)(9)				
CR 60(b)(11)2, 4, 8				
RAP 13.4(b)(1)7				
RAP 13.4(b)(2)8				
RAP 13.4(b)(4)15				

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER, CITATION TO DECISION & INTRODUCTION

This is an extraordinary case. A lawyer, suffering under legal and physical disabilities normally found only in John Grisham novels, failed to contest a summary judgment or appear for the hearing, despite reassuring his client only days before that he would, and despite a court order to do so. New counsel appeared with only two court days left to seek reconsideration, but the lawyer's disabilities prevented the new lawyer from filing the necessary declarations.

Petitioners Sawyer Lake Veterinary Hospital, Inc. and Dr. Jan White ask this Court to grant review in *Sawyer Lake Vet. Hosp., Inc. v. Pine Tree Vet. Hosp.*, No. 76809-3-I, slip op. (Wash. Ct. App. May 20, 2019) (copy attached). While the trial and appellate courts apparently accepted that counsel suffered "unavoidable casualty or misfortune," they did not accept that those disabilities prevented Dr. White from "prosecuting or defending." CR 60(b)(9). They apparently believed that since she first learned of counsel's legal disabilities on Friday, November 4, 2016, and had obtained new counsel by the following Thursday, November 10, new counsel had to file a (likely futile) motion for reconsideration by Monday, November 14.

This decision conflicts with other decisions and with justice.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the trial court err in failing to set aside summary judgment under CR 60(b)(9), where the uncontradicted evidence in the record shows that trial counsel was suffering unavoidable casualty and misfortune that he failed to disclose to his client, preventing her from prosecuting her claims?
- 2. Did the trial court err in failing to set aside summary judgment under CR 60(b)(11), where the uncontradicted evidence in the record shows extraordinary circumstances extraneous to the action of the trial court that vitiated the attorney-client relationship and left the client without representation unbeknownst to her, to the trial court, or even to trial counsel himself?
- 3. Did the trial court err in failing to set aside summary judgment on reconsideration, where the trial court's misapprehensions and errors were again clearly spelled out?

FACTS RELEVANT TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

This Court will note that the Court of Appeals has provided an unusually detailed, 19-page statement of facts. Slip Op. at 1-19. As far as it goes, it is of course accurate.

Remarkably, however, the key facts – those on which this appeal turns – are understated as follows (*id*. 14 & n.3):

The lengthy sealed declaration of [counsel] describes serious legal, physical, and mental circumstances. The December 12, 2016 declaration of Dr. Douglass states she began treating [counsel] in August 2016 and recent events worsened a psychiatric condition. . . .

The trial court recused and the motion to vacate was assigned to a different judge. The court made findings under **Seattle Times Co. v. Ishikawa**, 97 Wn.2d 30, 37-39, 640 P.2d 716 (1982), and ordered the declaration of [counsel] and Dr. Douglass sealed.³

³ Because the declarations contain highly private and sensitive matters, we do not cite the information contained in the sealed declarations.

The decision does mention the trial court's observations that counsel suffered "very, very significant hardship and challenges," which are "profound and profoundly moving in the context of what [counsel] has experienced." Id. at 15. But the trial court nonetheless ruled that "nothing . . . prevented" Dr. White from prosecuting her case and filing a timely motion for reconsideration "in that time frame" -i.e., in the two court days after new counsel first appeared. Id.

The Court of Appeals held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Dr. White's CR 60(b)(9) motion because, if she had submitted her and her office manager's affidavits responding to summary judgment (but never filed) "in support of a motion for reconsideration [they] would have presented compelling reasons to consider granting the motion." Slip Op. at 24-25. It is difficult to understand this assertion, where the failure to timely submit evidence or to bring a CR 56(f) motion is virtually always fatal on summary judgment.

The Court also held that Dr. White's affidavit would establish "good cause" to grant an extension of time to respond to the summary judgment. *Id.* at 25. Again, it is difficult to understand this statement: without a timely CR 56(f) motion, a request for more time is, as a practical matter, useless. Moreover, when the trial court was confronted with those very affidavits and asked to vacate, it declined. Any motion for reconsideration was futile.

On the same grounds, the appellate court held that Dr. White's attorney-client relationship had not "disintegrated to the point where there was no representation" under CR 60(b)(11). Slip Op. at 26-27. But counsel withheld crucial information and acted in a conflict of interest with his client. The attorney-client relationship was defunct.

REASONS THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT REVIEW

A. To properly consider this petition, this Court must carefully review the sealed documents.

Dr. White moved the appellate court to circulate the sealed declarations to the panel along with the briefing. It refused – on the basis that the record is accessible to the judges. It is unclear from the opinion whether all three judges read the sealed documents.

Dr. White also asks the five Justices who will decide this Petition to personally review Sealed CP 339-417. Like the appellate court, Dr. White declines to discuss highly personal and confidential information that might even put people's lives at risk. But Your Honors cannot properly address this Petition without personally reviewing the sealed documents.

B. The sealed documents make clear that counsel suffered unavoidable casualty and misfortune that prevented Dr. White from prosecuting her action.

It is no exaggeration to say that the sealed documents make crystal clear that counsel suffered under the most extraordinary unavoidable casualty and misfortune. See Sealed CP 339-417. Counsel's legal and physical disabilities made it impossible for him to even recognize the extent of his incapacity, much less to disclose it to others, including his client. There is no dispute that Dr. White did not know the full extent of his physical disabilities, nor anything about

his legal disabilities, until the day summary judgment was granted. See, e.g., Slip Op. at 13-14. It took only six days for new counsel to appear, but at that point (Thursday, Nov. 10, 2016) only two Court days remained, a Friday, and the Monday the motion would be due.

As the sealed declarations also make clear, counsel was disabled from even understanding the extent of his incapacity. He acknowledges that he was not forthcoming with his client. If <u>he</u> could not know or express his inability to represent her, then she certainly could not know or understand it. He even lied to his client regarding why he could not respond to discovery or summary judgment. Slip Op. 13, 17. Counsel's failures to communicate the truth regarding his disabilities was not mere negligence. Counsel did not *accidentally* or *mistakenly* fail to inform and protect his client. He was legally, physically, and mentally disabled from doing so.

In fact, counsel had a *conflict of interest* with his client, but he acted anyway. He was so significantly legally impaired that he could not act properly in her case. Yet he could not – and did not – tell her that until the case was literally over – to protect his family. In truth, counsel was *a witness* as to why Dr. White had not met many deadlines – deadlines she did not know had been completely missed until it was too late.

When a lawyer cannot and does not tell his client that he is incapacitated from representing her, when he cannot and does not tell her the truth, he is in a *per se* conflict of interest and also *cannot* act on her behalf. His incapacity meant that the representation had failed – practically and legally. The trial and appellate courts erred in concluding otherwise – as a matter of law.

C. The decision conflicts with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Adams v. Adams*, 181 Wash. 192, 42 P.2d 787 (1935); see also *State v. Scott*, 20 Wn. App. 382, 385-86, 580 P.2d 1099 (1978); *Swasey v. Mikkelsen*, 65 Wash. 411, 118 P. 308 (1911). In *Adams*, the wife filed for divorce and obtained a property settlement from her husband, who was suffering from influenza. 181 Wash. at 193. He later claimed that he had "lost his mind completely and was oblivious to the import of transactions and occurrences" during his illness. *Id.* The wife demurred (*i.e.*, admitted the well-pled facts in his request to vacate). *Id.* at 194.

As a result, the "facts alleged . . . are most unusual, perhaps even improbable, and are such as are very difficult of proof; and yet, they are not inherently impossible"; vacation was thus appropriate

under, *inter alia*, "unavoidable casualty or misfortune preventing the party from prosecuting or defending." *Id.* at 194-95.

The same is true here. The facts are certainly improbable – they are extraordinary – but not inherently impossible. They show that neither Dr. White nor her counsel knew or could have known that her claims were not being properly prosecuted. These casualties and misfortunes were ongoing and unrelenting.

The appellate court failed to cite or discuss this Court's decisions in *Adams*, *Scott*, or *Swasey*, *supra*, all of which were cited and discussed. *See* BA 20-24; Reply 5, 10, 13. *Scott* and *Swasey* are easily distinguished. *Id*. This Court should grant review to resolve the conflict with *Adams*.

D. The decision conflicts with other appellate decisions. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

The decision also conflicts with the decisions in *Marriage of Olsen*, 183 Wn. App. 546, 333 P.3d 561 (2014) and *Barr v. MacGuan*, 119 Wn. App. 43, 78 P.3d 660 (2003). *Olsen* is procedural. *Barr* involves CR 60(b)(11).

In *Olsen*, either the husband or his counsel did not show up for trial at various times, and the third time the court heard the wife's evidence, entered an order of default, and later entered orders

resolving the parties' issues. 183 Wn. App. at 551-52. The husband sought vacation under CR 60(b)(1), which was denied. *Id*. The wife then argued that the husband had to move for reconsideration or appeal, rather than seek vacation. *Id*. at 553.

But the *Olsen* court noted that there, as here, the husband was not alleging a legal error based on the evidence presented at trial (or here, on summary judgment) but rather was raising evidence that was not disclosed to the trial court. *Id*. Thus, "it was pointless for [husband] to move for reconsideration or appeal the findings or conclusions." *Id*. The same is true here: with <u>no evidence</u> from plaintiffs, the trial court did not err in entering summary judgment. BA 25. Substantial justice has not been done in this case.

Yet the Court of Appeals held that here, "filing a motion for reconsideration was not 'meaningless." Slip Op. at 23. As noted *supra*, the Court said that two grounds existed for reconsideration because (a) two affidavits that counsel *failed to file* showed "compelling reasons to consider granting the motion"; 1 and (b) Dr.

¹ It is certainly true that Dr. White *had* compelling reasons opposing summary judgment, including her 590 former clients that moved to Dr. Ferguson's clinic. Slip Op. at 13. But counsel failed to file this information.

White's *unfiled* affidavit provided "good cause to grant an extension of time." *Id.* at 24-25. Neither holding is correct.

On reconsideration, these affidavits were **not** "newly discovered evidence." On the contrary, they were available, and counsel was supposed to file them, in opposition to summary judgment. While (as the appellate court notes) a trial court has discretion to consider newly discovered evidence, no reasonable judge could conclude that this evidence was newly discovered. This ground fails, explaining why no motion for reconsideration was filed.

On "good cause," the appellate court quoted, but apparently misread, CR 6(b), which provides that the trial court may <u>not</u> "extend the time for taking any action under" CR 59(b) (the rule limiting motions for reconsideration to 10 days and hearings on those motion to 30 days). As Dr. White explained in great detail to both the trial and appellate courts, the sealed declarations make very clear that it was impossible for new counsel even to grasp the extent of the existing problems, much less to obtain the necessary declarations, have them vetted by the necessary authorities, and file them, in the remaining two court days. Even 30 days would not have been enough. It took months of testing before the psychiatric nurse practitioner would agree to testify. And the federal government took

quite some time to clear counsel to speak, even under seal. See, e.g., BA 15-18. All of this was beyond Dr. White's control.

Incoming counsel – facing a deadline in two court days – must proceed with caution. If a clearly inadequate and unsupported motion for reconsideration were filed and denied, further sanctions would likely ensue, and the subsequent motion to vacate would likely fail. Indeed, based on the trial and appellate courts' reasoning here, those courts would likely have said Dr. White should have filed the new information sooner. After all, Dr. White filed as soon as humanly possible several months later, yet those courts apparently held that two court days were sufficient. The conflict with *Olsen* is palpable.

On *Barr*, the trial and appellate courts misconstrued *Barr* and overlooked or misapprehended the uncontradicted facts in the record. There, the plaintiff's lawsuit was dismissed after her attorney failed to comply with an order compelling discovery. 119 Wn. App. at 44. Like Dr. White, that client had cooperated and provided the necessary information in a timely fashion. *Id.* at 45. "Unbeknownst to both her and the court, [however,] Barr's attorney was suffering from severe clinical depression." *Id.*

Barr reviews cases holding that an attorney's negligence and neglect bind his client and cannot justify vacation of a judgment. *Id*.

at 46. But "[w]hile we acknowledge the general rule stated in these cases, they provide little guidance here because Barr's attorney suffered from severe clinical depression – not incompetence or deliberate inattention to his workload." *Id.* at 46-47. This Court held that "there is no basis for attributing the attorney's 'acts' to the client when the agency relationship has disintegrated to the point where as a practical matter there is no representation." *Id.* at 48.

Throughout this litigation, Dr. White and her staff provided all information and resources requested. CP 358-59 (sealed), 438. Counsel's failures to prosecute the case and appear on summary judgment were entirely without his client's knowledge and outside her control. *Id.* He effectively ceased and neglected to act as her counsel or agent – but led her to believe he had not. *Id.* Further, as in *Barr*, his acts and omissions were not a result of incompetence or deliberate inattention, but were instead due to extraneous and unforeseen circumstances wholly unrelated to this litigation. *See generally* CP 339-417 (sealed).

This was brought home all the more in the plaintiffs' motion for reconsideration. CP 219-32. The only knowledge plaintiffs had prior to the dismissal was that counsel suffered from "some health issues." CP 237-38, 243-44, 248-51. This is not the same as being

advised that counsel suffered from the circumstances set forth in the sealed declarations. The key information – counsel's true disability – was not known to anyone, including the court and trial counsel himself, until after the case was dismissed. *Id.* Further, the *Barr* plaintiff was considered diligent even though she had not heard from her counsel for months. 119 Wn. App. at 48.

As set forth in the sealed declarations, plaintiffs' counsel conducted very little discovery, failed to meaningfully consult with his clients or explain himself, failed to disclose pertinent information (including sanctions orders), ceased *acting* as counsel for plaintiffs, and misled his clients. Yet *the clients* responded to five sets of discovery, diligently collecting the information requested in a timely fashion. CP 236. Dr. White was unaware of any late filings until June 20, 2016 – and she inquired about that one. CP 237.

This decision conflicts with *Barr*. Yet the Court of Appeals took the unusual steps of (a) reproducing in a "footnote" two entire pages from defense counsel's opposition to Dr. White's motion for reconsideration attempting to distinguish *Barr* (see Slip Op. at 18-19 n.7); and (b) deferring to the trial court's alleged "discretion" to so distinguish *Barr* (see Slip Op. at 26-27). Whether *Barr* is on point and controlling is a question of law for the appellate court, not a

matter of trial court discretion. Deferring to the trial court on this question was error.

Technically, it is likely true that any case can be factually distinguished, except perhaps a prior decision in the same case. It is difficult to tell from the opinion whether the appellate court simply adopted the defendants' distinctions quoted in the appellate court's "facts" section. Slip Op. 18-19 n.7. Those alleged distinctions are fairly grouped into (a) Barr's lack of knowledge, (b) Barr's counsel's utter failures to act, and (c) Barr's lack of control. *Id*. None justifies distinguishing *Barr* here.

Barr plainly did not pay attention to her case. She did not know anything about (i) her counsel's health problems, (ii) any missed deadlines, (iii) any motions, (iv) any hearings, or (v) even the dismissal itself (for 1.5 years). *Id.* If a client *who paid no attention to her case* is relieved from a judgment due to her counsel's clinical depression, it is untenable to hold Dr. White to her counsel's complete failures to represent her due to his legal, physical, and mental disabilities.

The gravamina of *Barr* and of this case are the same: where, as here, (a) counsel suffered from severe clinical depression and legal disability (not incompetence or deliberate inattention to

workload); and (b) the agency relationship disintegrated as a practical matter, such that no representation actually occurred; then (c) no basis exists to attribute the attorney's acts to the client. Counsel acted – or failed to act – in a severe and undisclosed conflict of interest with his client, whom he misled. There is no basis to hold Dr. White to counsel's disabled – indeed nonexistent – judgment.

E. This case presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The public is, and certainly should be, concerned when a plaintiff's "compelling" case is dismissed solely because her lawyer was disabled from prosecuting the case. It should be concerned when a lawyer who was disabled from even understanding his incapacity failed to tell his client the truth, yet *her* case was dismissed. It should be concerned when justice totally fails, through no fault of the quite-diligent client.

This Court should also be concerned. It has plenary authority over the practice of law. It should be the final arbiter of when and whether a diligent client should lose her fundamental right to seek justice in our courts because her lawyer was legally, physically, and mentally disabled from acting on her behalf. Misrepresentation to a client is not representation of her. This Court should grant review.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated, this Court should grant review to address the important question whether the actions and inactions of a legally, physically, and mentally disabled lawyer acting in a conflict of interest should be visited upon his diligent, if deceived, client. It should address and resolve the conflicts with its own precedent and with other appellate decisions. It should act to ensure that a diligent client may have her day in court.