FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 8/26/2019 10:24 AM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97343-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SAWYER LAKE VETERINARY HOSPITAL, INC., P.S., a Washington corporation; and DR. JAN WHITE,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

v.

PINE TREE VETERINARY HOSPITAL, a Washington limited liability company, and DR. BRIDGET FERGUSON,

Defendants-Respondents.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael B. King, WSBA No. 14405 Lucinda J. Luke, WSBA No. 26783 Rory D. Cosgrove, WSBA No. 48647 CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Ave., Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Attorneys for Pine Tree Veterinary Hospital and Dr. Bridget Ferguson

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A trial court's denying a CR 60(b) motion to vacate a summary judgment is a discretionary decision.⁴ *Griggs v. Averbeck Realty, Inc.*, 92 Wn.2d 576, 582, 599 P.2d 1289 (1979). A party must show on appeal that the trial court had "no tenable basis for refusing to vacate." *Marriage of Olsen*, 183 Wn. App. 546, 558, 333 P.3d 561 (2014).

The Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's denial of Dr. White's CR 60(b) motion to set aside the summary judgment. Dr. White was not prevented from prosecuting her case, despite her trial lawyer's health issues. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Washington appellate decision. And strong public policy favors finality of judgments—a policy vindicated by the rulings at issue here. Review is thus unwarranted and should be denied.

A. Even if Davies' health issues caused him to suffer an unavoidable casualty or misfortune, those health issues did not prevent Dr. White from prosecuting her case under CR 60(b)(9).

CR 60(b)(9) requires the moving party to establish two things: (1) an unavoidable casualty or misfortune (2) prevented the party from

.

⁴ While Washington courts apply CR 60(b) more liberally to judgments by default than those on the merits, the summary-judgment order here was a judgment on the merits. *Marriage of Olsen*, 183 Wn. App. 546, 553-56, 333 P.3d 561 (2014); *Stanley v. Cole*, 157 Wn. App. 873, 879-81, 239 P.3d 611 (2010).

prosecuting her case. An unavoidable casualty or misfortune alone is insufficient to allow relief under the rule. *Stanley v. Cole*, 157 Wn. App. 873, 882, 239 P.3d 611 (2010). The moving party must also show the unavoidable casualty or misfortune "actually prevented" the party from prosecuting her case. *Id.* at 883.

Dr. White asks this Court to review the sealed documents that were submitted in support of the CR 60(b) motion. CP 339-417. The Court of Appeals noted that the sealed documents describe Davies' legal, physical, and mental circumstances, and the trial court observed that Davies suffered very significant hardship and challenges. *Slip op.* at 14-15. Dr. Ferguson takes no issue with any of these conclusions. But those sealed documents, while arguably establishing that Davies was suffering from an unavoidable casualty or misfortune, are immaterial because his health issues did not prevent Dr. White from prosecuting her case.

Dr. White knew Dr. Ferguson had filed a summary-judgment motion. Dr. White knew the hearing had been set for November 4. She reviewed the motion with Davies and discussed the merits and opposing the motion. Dr. White and her office manager signed declarations on November 3 contesting Dr. Ferguson's assertion that she signed the noncompete agreement without consideration. CP 469-70, 472-73; *see also* CP 477-78 (unsigned declaration from Dr. White's intern dated November 3 challenging the merits of Dr. Ferguson's summary-judgment motion).

Dr. White has acknowledged that she knew the full extent of Davies' health issues on the day summary judgment was entered. *Pet. for Rev.* at 5-

6; CP 240, 301, 344, 438, 561.⁵ Six days later, Dr. White hired new counsel from a reputable Seattle-based law firm. By that point Dr. White and her new counsel had four days to seek reconsideration.

A reconsideration motion must be filed within 10 days after the entry of the judgment or order. CR 59(b). This requirement is mandatory. *Metz v. Sarandos*, 91 Wn. App. 357, 360, 957 P.2d 795 (1998). A trial court cannot extend the 10-day deadline for a party to file a timely reconsideration motion. *Id.* at 359-60, 360 n.1 (citing CR 6(b)(2); CR 59(b)). But a trial court can "for cause" extend the deadline for a party to file affidavits supporting a reconsideration motion based on facts outside the record. *Compare* CR 59(c), *with* CR 6(b).⁶

Here Dr. White and her new counsel undisputedly could have filed—indeed, should have filed—a timely reconsideration motion. The record established at least four grounds on which Dr. White could have sought reconsideration. *Slip op.* at 24 (citing CR 59). Dr. White had the evidence she needed to oppose the summary-judgment motion on the merits at least a day before the hearing. CP 469-70, 472-73 (declarations signed

⁵ What Dr. White did not know was the particular cause of Davies' health issues, which was something that required additional time to investigate and uncover. But, as Dr. Ferguson will discuss more fully later in this answer, CR 59(c) allowed Dr. White to show cause for why she could have been granted additional time to develop those facts.

⁶ The federal courts apply the same standard under the federal analog, Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 6(b) and 59(c), which is consistent with Washington's Civil Rules. *See Anderson v. Thompson*, 144 F.R.D. 393, 395-96 (E.D. Wash. 1992) (granting leave to all counsel to file supplemental materials and concluding that once a timely motion for new trial under Rule 59 is made, a party may later file supplemental materials to support the motion for new trial) ("As to Rule 59(c), fixing the time for serving affidavits on motion for new trial, it is believed that the court should have authority under Rule 6(b) to enlarge the time, because, once the motion for new trial is made the judgment no longer has finality, and the extension of time for affidavits thus does not of itself disturb finality.").

and dated on November 3, challenging the merits of the motion). These signed declarations, according to the Court of Appeals, were sufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact to contest Dr. Ferguson's assertion that she signed the noncompete agreement without consideration. *See slip op*. at 24-25 (noting the "compelling reasons" presented by these declarations for the trial court to consider granting a reconsideration motion); CP 469-70, 472-73.

So why should Dr. White have been excused from her obligation to submit those signed declarations in a timely opposition to the summary-judgment motion? The answer to that question, in Dr. White's view, is the disabled state of her first trial lawyer, Mr. Davies. But the fact of her first trial lawyer's disabled state undisputedly could have been brought to the trial court's attention as part of a timely reconsideration motion.

That leaves the issue of Dr. White's inability to present the full story of Davies' health issues to the trial court, when a reconsideration motion had to be timely filed.

To be sure, when the reconsideration motion was due, Dr. White did not know enough of Davies' health issues beyond describing that he seemed to have suffered from some sort of a mental breakdown. But Dr. White could have requested more time under CR 59(c) to prepare additional affidavits that would have provided the full picture of Davies' health issues, which caused him not to oppose the summary-judgment motion or to appear at the hearing. A reconsideration motion then would have functioned as a placeholder, remaining pending while Dr. White gathered the facts about

the extent and severity of Davies' health issues. And—again—it is undisputed that Dr. White's new lawyer could have put together the request for more time in the four days before the reconsideration motion was due, based on what Dr. White and her new counsel did know at the time.

Dr. White and her new counsel's failure to seek reconsideration, despite their ability to do so, ultimately proved fatal to Dr. White's CR 60(b) vacation efforts. Seeking both reconsideration and an extension of time to file affidavits to explore the circumstances of Davies' health issues—that's all Dr. White needed to do to prosecute her case. Because the trial court could reasonably conclude that Davies' health issues, even if they constituted an unavoidable casualty or misfortune, did not actually prevent Dr. White from seeking reconsideration and thus prosecuting her case, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed the trial court's decision to deny CR 60(b) relief. Review is unwarranted.

B. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Adams v. Adams*, because Dr. White failed to show how her trial lawyer's health issues prevented her from prosecuting her case.

CR 60(b) largely tracks its federal counterpart. *Stanley*, 157 Wn. App. at 881. But several subsections, including CR 60(b)(9), were instead derived from RCW 4.72.010. *Id*.⁷ CR 60(b), which superseded that statute, now provides the exclusive basis for vacating judgments or orders. *Id*. at 881 n.12; *State v. Scott*, 92 Wn.2d 209, 212, 595 P.2d 549 (1979).

⁷ That statute, in turn, dates back to the territorial days, at least as far back as 1875. Laws of 1875, ch. 1, § 1 at 20-21.

To be entitled to CR 60(b)(9) relief, the party must show (1) an unavoidable casualty or misfortune that (2) prevented the party from prosecuting her case.

The Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with this Court's decision in Adams v. Adams, 181 Wash. 192, 42 P.2d 787 (1935). Dr. Ferguson agrees that Davies—at least when he failed to appear for the hearing on Dr. Ferguson's summary-judgment motion—suffered from what could be termed an unavoidable casualty or misfortune. unavoidable casualty or misfortune alone is insufficient to allow relief under the rule." Stanley, 157 Wn. App. at 882. And unlike the husband in Adams, whose health issues did prevent him from defending against the relief sought by the wife in the dissolution action, Davies' health issues did not prevent Dr. White from prosecuting her case. She and her new counsel together could have but failed to bring a motion for reconsideration that could have resulted in the vacation of the summary judgment and the reinstatement of her case. Nothing about Davies' difficulties, however remarkable the circumstances that caused him to default on his obligations on November 4, prevented Dr. White and her new counsel from seeking reconsideration within the deadline for doing so.

The statute under which this Court decided *Adams* is the predecessor to the statute that ultimately was superseded by CR 60(b), and specifically by subsection (9) of that rule that incorporated the statutory provision about relief for unavoidable casualty. *Compare Adams*, 181 Wash. at 195 (citing Rem. Rev. Stat. § 464), *with Scott*, 92 Wn.2d at 212-13 (citing RCW

4.72.010), and CR 60(b). This Court admittedly has not visited the issue of unavoidable casualty since adopting CR 60(b)(9). But this Court does not take up an issue simply because the Court has not addressed it in some time. This Court will take up an issue when there is a call for reconsideration of old precedents, like in *Deggs v. Asbestos Corp. Ltd.*, 186 Wn.2d 716, 381 P.3d 32 (2016), in which this Court granted review to consider whether to overrule several of this Court's decades-old decisions that placed a restrictive gloss on wrongful-death actions. But Dr. White does not contend there is a need to change the established understanding of unavoidable casualty laid down in *Adams*. Dr. White instead contends the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with that understanding, and should be reviewed for that reason. And because Dr. White is wrong, and there is no conflict, nothing about *Adams* warrants granting review in this case.

C. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Marriage* of Olsen, because Dr. White's filing a timely reconsideration motion was not futile.

The Court of Appeals' decision is also consistent with its prior decision in *Marriage of Olsen*, 183 Wn. App. 546, 333 P.3d 561 (2014).

In *Olsen*, either the husband or his counsel did not show up for trial at various times. On the third time, the trial court heard the wife's evidence and later entered orders resolving the parties' issues. The husband failed to file a reconsideration motion. He instead sought vacation under CR 60(b)(1) due to his counsel's health issues, which was denied. *Id.* at 551-52. The wife argued that the husband had to seek reconsideration, rather than vacation. *Id.* at 552-53. The Court of Appeals in *Olsen* concluded that

the husband's filing a reconsideration motion would have been futile because he could not present evidence within the ten-day reconsideration window to challenge the trial court's orders on the merits. *Id.* at 552-53.

Unlike in *Olsen*, it would not have been futile for Dr. White to seek reconsideration of the summary judgment. Dr. White and her office manager signed declarations on November 3—the day before the summary-judgment hearing—challenging Dr. Ferguson's assertion that she signed the noncompete agreement without consideration. CP 469-70, 472-73. This evidence, in the Court of Appeals' view, would have raised a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to deny Dr. Ferguson's summary-judgment motion. *Slip op.* at 23-25. And that distinction means there is no conflict with *Olsen*.

D. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with *Barr v. MacGugan*, because Dr. White was not an unknowing client and Dr. White's relationship with her trial lawyer had not disintegrated to the point where there was no representation.

The Court of Appeals' decision is also consistent its prior decision in *Barr v. MacGugan*, 119 Wn. App. 43, 78 P.3d 660 (2003).

CR 60(b)(11) allows the trial court to vacate an order for "[a]ny other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment." It is confined to "extraordinary circumstances" not covered by any other section of the rule. *Metro. Park Dist. of Tacoma v. Griffith*, 106 Wn.2d 425, 439 n.3, 723 P.2d 1093 (1986); *Barr*, 119 Wn. App. at 46.

Barr recognized a limited exception to the general rule that an attorney's negligence or neglect does not constitute grounds for vacating a

judgment under CR 60(b). *Barr*, 119 Wn. App. at 46. In *Barr*, the trial court dismissed the plaintiff's case with prejudice after the plaintiff's lawyer failed to comply with an order compelling responses to discovery requests. *Id.* at 45. The plaintiff left several phone messages with her lawyer to check on the status of her case, but the lawyer never responded. The plaintiff learned nine months later from a third party that her case had been dismissed and that her attorney had been suffering from severe clinical depression. The plaintiff hired new counsel and filed a motion to vacate the dismissal order under CR 60(b)(11). The trial court granted the motion, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.

Acknowledging the general rule that an attorney's negligence is binding on the client, *Barr* concluded that this rule did not apply where the plaintiff's lawyer experienced severe depression and the attorney–client relationship had "disintegrated to the point where as a practical matter there is no representation." *Barr*, 119 Wn. App. at 48; *see also Olsen*, 183 Wn. App. at 557 (citing *Maples v. Thomas*, 565 U.S. 266, 282, 132 S. Ct. 912, 181 L. Ed. 2d 807 (2012) (holding that a client may be excused from responsibility for her lawyer's procedural defaults in the case of abandonment, but only where there is evidence of near-total abandonment)). *Barr* limited the exception to the general rule to "situations where an attorney's condition effectively deprives a diligent but unknowing client of representation." *Barr*, 119 Wn. App. at 48.

This case is a far cry from the type of abandonment found in *Barr* sufficient to justify CR 60(b)(11) relief.

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